1976

# Walter W. Kershaw v. Tracy Collins Bank & Trust Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by plaintiff-appellant, Walter W. Kershaw against defendant-respondent, Tracy Collins Bank & Trust Company, as Administrators of the estate of Hallie Love Dennis, to recover judgment as satisfaction of a claim brought against the estate of Hallie Love Dennis for services rendered to the said Hallie Love Dennis by plaintiff during the last three years of her life.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Hearing was held on January 30, 1976 before the Honorable James W. Sawaya, sitting without jury on defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, defendant seeking to dismiss plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice.

The Court determined that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact and granted defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing plaintiff's Complaint with prejudice.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment rendered in the hearing below on respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, a determination that appellant's claim against the estate of Hallie Love Dennis is legitimate and must be satisfied from the assets thereof, and that the case be remanded with instructions to determine the value of services rendered deceased.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent's late husband, Earl Dennis, shortly before his death, requested appellant to look after and take care of Hallie Love Dennis until her death. Responding to that request, appellant rendered services to Hallie Love Dennis on a nearly daily basis during the last three years of her life. During that period of time, Hallie Love Dennis requested and demanded that appellant perform numerous services to her, including the maintenance and supervision of her estate and affairs and the performance of numerous errands.

Hallie Love Dennis during this period of time, not only permitted, but requested and demanded all of the services which were rendered to her by appellant but never entered a contract with appellant, written or oral, for compensation.

Upon the death of Hallie Love Dennis, appellant filed a claim against her estate for 2,345 hours time spent over a three-year period at \$2 per hour and 20,925 miles traveled at 12¢ per mile. Appellant's claim was for services rendered covering the preservation of the estate as well as the personal care.

maintenance and supervision of Hallie Love Dennis' affairs. Such claim was rejected by the executor of the estate on May 9, 1975.

Appellant then filed action against respondent in June, 1975.

Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 16, 1976 which was granted January 30th.

From the foregoing Statement of Facts the appellant respectfully submits his argument as follows:

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

#### A CLAIM MAY BE ENFORCED AGAINST A DECEASED'S ESTATE FOR SERVICES RENDERED TO DECEASED PRIOR TO DEATH IN THE ABSENCE OF AN ACTUAL CONTRACT

To prevent unjust enrichment in the situation where services are rendered to one person in the absence of a formal contract, either written or oral, the courts have imposed a duty to pay for services accepted on the basis of quantum meruit. Recovering on quantum meruit is based upon a benefit accepted or derived for which the law implies a contract to pay. Roane vs. Crow, 209 P.2d 149 (Cal. 1949). By such there is created an implied contract to pay for services rendered an amount which the one reasonably performing deserves for his labor.

Basing a claim upon quantum meruit brings the action under a class of obligations imposed by law without regard to the intention or the assent of the parties to be bound. This is done for reasons dictated by reason and justice. Carpenter vs. Josey Oil Company, (C.C.A. Okl.), 26 F.2d 442 (1928).

The deceased in the instant case during a period of nearly three years requested, on a daily basis, that the appellant render services to her of a personal nature. At page 13 of appellant's deposition the following conversation took place:

Q You said that Earl Dennis had charged you with the responsibility of taking care of Hallie, is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q How had he done that?

A Because he called me over on New Year's Day, January 1st, 1972, to tell me what bad shape he was in physically, and he had only a few days to live. And Hallie didn't realize it. And he had to have somebody to look after her until she died.

After being so charged and receiving this request of the deceased's husband, appellant was continuously requested to render services by deceased herself. Appellant's deposition at page 12 states:

Q And in your claim you say, "together with all of the care and maintenance of Hallie Dennis."

A With the exception--

Q And now, you have said that this regards, maybe some of the supervision of these other people, is that right?

A Well, I was with her every day, and she was a gal that-- well, let's just put the cards on the table. She was the most demanding, cantankerous bitch that God ever created, and she knew that her husband, Earl Dennis, had charged me with the responsibility of taking care of her before her death. And she went out of her way to make it miserable with her demands. She'd call four or five times a day and demand that I go do this, and that, and I'd tell her, "hire a taxicab." "Well, they charge too much money."

And now, she never bought one nickel's worth of groceries. She didn't go to a doctor, or clinic, or talk to anybody. She didn't do one single thing that she didn't demand I perform that



service for her.

Q Did you take her to the doctors or clinics?

A I took her every place she went.

Q Did you take her to the grocery store?

A No, she sent me to the grocery, and I bought every single grocery she consumed from the time her husband died until the time she died. She never went to the grocery store once.

Further evidence of service rendered is found on page 11 of appellant's deposition:

Q Did you hire the nurses?

A I did.

Q What are their names?

A Well, I'll give you those. Dorothy Frickey, an experienced Practical Nurse who resides at 1249 Glendale Drive. Her telephone number is 486-8243. She was employed by me on August the 27th for \$100 a week on a seven day, 24 hour basis to take care of Mrs. Dennis, and she was acceptable to the doctors.

Q Were there other nurses?

A Yes. She couldn't stand the pressure, and Mrs. Dennis was too demanding for her to continue, and so she resigned some time in December. And I was successful to secure the services of an Adelia Ballaine, 1480 Green Street, telephone number 487-9419, who worked for \$85 a week, 24 hours a day, seven days a week until three weeks before Hallie Dennis died.

Regarding the amount of time in appellant's claim against the estate his deposition at page 15 reveals:

Q All right. And now, if you spent 14 hours a week, this would be averaging then two hours a day. What would you do during those two hours a day at her house?

A Well, I had to go to the grocery store once or twice, or

three times a day to satisfy this woman. And every errand that she wanted I had to do. I took care of paying all of her bills, her correspondence. Everything she did. And now, it did average more than two hours a day during that year.

Q How about the other eight weeks that you don't claim for here?

A I wasn't in town. I can't claim it. I wasn't in town.

Q Who helped her during that time, do you know?

A Yes, I know. She got her neighbors, and she got this Claudia Wright that's named in the deal.

From the foregoing it is clear that appellant:

1. Was requested by deceased's husband to look after her;
2. Was not, therefore, a volunteer or relative, acting by love, affection or self seeking;
3. Was continuously requested by decedent to render services to her; and
4. Rendered services ordinarily subject to remuneration.

That these services were to be compensated and appellant was not just a volunteer is found at pages 14 and 49:

Q And now, on the schedule that you have attached to the claim you have this broken down as to the three and a portion of the fourth year that were involved. That is, 1972, 73, 74, and five weeks of 75. And you say in each instance that you worked so many hours.

A She consumed that much time of mine. At least that much time.

Q That you really believe that you were working, and not performing any kind of a friendly service?

A No love or friendship involved in this transaction.

Q You didn't believe that you were doing any kind of a friendly act or charitable deed?

A Well, I'm not going to be that--I felt that I was doing what I was required to do, what I was requested to do. It wasn't a

Then at page 49 the following:

Q And you definitely did not think of your services, whatever you did for Hallie Dennis, as what, maybe, any other fellow Mason would do for another Mason's widow, right?

A No.

Q You definitely felt this was not a charitable deed that any other churchman would do?

A No. Nobody else would do it, not for her.

Q So you were looking at this entirely as something that you were entitled to pay for?

A I'm entitled to compensation for the services rendered to that woman, and the preservation of this estate.

In Kramer vs. Clark, 121 Wash. 507, 209 P. 688, (1922), an action was brought against the Administrator of an estate seeking to recover money for services rendered. The claim was based upon a service rendered by a deceased's stepson who had made a trip at the special request of decedent to her residence, resided with her approximately one week and returned home. No express promise to reimburse the stepson for his trip was found by the court; but nevertheless the court found that since the decedent had telegraphed her stepson to come to Seattle, his following her request rendered her estate liable to pay for such trip.

In the instant case there is no relationship of stepmother-stepson and the continuous request of the decedent over a period of years to have appellant render services to her. Under such circumstances a promise to pay for these valuable services, which were rendered with the deceased's knowledge and approval and at her request, should be enforced. Enforcement of a promise to pay the reasonable value of services is implied where one performs for another with the other's knowledge when the latter expresses no dissent or avails himself of the service, irrespective of a precedent request. Naegle vs. Miller, 73 Idaho 441, 253 P.2d 233, (1953).

If one may be held to a duty of payment without request by availing himself of the benefit of services, one who requests such services certainly ought to be so bound, and the law in most jurisdictions is in accord.

The basis for such a view is found in that series of cases which hold that, generally, when services are rendered by one person for another and voluntarily and knowingly accepted without more, the law will imply a promise to pay what the services are actually worth. Gleason vs. Salt Lake City, et al., 9 Utah 1, 74 P.2d 1225, (1937); Williams vs. Jones, 105 Kan. 257, 182 P. 392 (1919); Hardung vs. Green, 40 Wash. 2d 595, 255 P.2d 1163, (1952). This has been extended to claims against a decedent's estate.

This rule of law was further explained in McCollumb vs. Clothier, 121 Utah 311, 241 P.2d 468, (1952), a case relied upon by respondent below, where the court was confronted with an action brought against a defendant to recover compensation under implied contract for services rendered and expenses incurred by the plaintiff in securing bidders for the purchase of machinery and equipment sold by the defendant. The defendant did institute a foreclosure proceedings in another state and had procured judgment. He then asked the trustee in bankruptcy about the plaintiff, Mr. McCollumb, as to his trustworthiness. After such conversation, the defendant contacted the plaintiff and asked the plaintiff to go to the premises where the machinery was and meet two attorneys involved in the purchase of the machinery. Plaintiff aided them in checking and inventorying the property and discussing the property with some interested persons.

It was undisputed that the plaintiff had talked to both the attorney, Iverson, and to the defendant, Dr. Clothier, concerning his activities. The fact is that plaintiff's work did react to the benefit of the defendant at request of a third party, the defendant's attorney. Upon finding of these facts the court

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services under the provisions of the Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

"The rule applicable to the situation is contained in the Restatement of Agency, Vol. 2 Section 441, 'except where the relationship of the parties, the triviality of the services, or other circumstances indicate that the parties have agreed otherwise, it is inferred that one who requests or permits another to perform services for him as his agent promises to pay for them'." Id. at 470.

In the instant case, work and labor was performed for the deceased at her request, there is no relationship of the parties, triviality of services, or any other circumstance which would indicate that services rendered were to be rendered gratuitously. In fact the nature and extent of the services obviously takes them beyond the realm of the trivial, and the decedent in the instant case continuously required the plaintiff to render further services, not just permitted them to be rendered.

Further, the established rule, under these facts was set forth in House Estate, Dillenberger vs. Starkweather, 164 Kan. 610, 192 P.2d 179, (1948), where the court stated at 180:

"The burden was, of course, on appellee to prove her claim. The decedent received the benefits of services, and they were performed with his approval. In 34 C.J.S., Executors and Administrators, Section 452, the established rule is well stated: 'Ordinarily the fact that services were rendered decedent at his request or with his approval, raises a presumption that they were to be paid for unless the conduct, relationship, or situation of the parties is of such a nature as to rebut the presumption'." See also Ennis vs. Nusbaum, Adm'r, 90 Kansas 296, 113 P.2d 537.

In the instant case the decedent's husband charged the appellant just prior to his death that he take care of the decedent during the last years of her life, manager her affairs, and see that she was taken care of. Had decedent's husband outlived her, his estate would have been liable for these services rendered at his request. Startin vs. Madsen, 120 Ut. 631, 237 P.2d 834, (1951).

However, Hallie Love Dennis did not predecease her husband, who had charged appellant with duty to see after her needs, and therefore, his estate

went to her. His estate, now held by the deceased, is obliged to pay for these services. In Startin, supra, the court stated at 836:

"There was no error in allowing the jury to include the value of services rendered to Priscilla Madsen, wife of the deceased, since nothing furnished in this case could be construed to be anything but necessities, the expense of which her husband's estate was obliged to pay."

The instant case has as its issue the validity of a claim for services rendered to a decedent prior to her death. As such, it is not based upon contract. Statutory authority that contracts must be proven in writing, therefore, have no application. The law is consistent in every jurisdiction that an implied contract to pay the reasonable value of services rendered is created when services are given with approval and knowledge. When those services are requested, a conclusive obligation to repay for them ought to be created.

## POINT II

WHEN SERVICES ARE RENDERED TO A DECEASED PRIOR TO DEATH AND A CLAIM MADE AGAINST THE DECEASED'S ESTATE, THE CLAIMANT'S BURDEN IS TO SHOW THAT SERVICES WERE RENDERED AND THE EXTENT OF THOSE SERVICES

In an action for unjust enrichment the measure of damages, where there is a proper, equitable basis therefore, is the reasonable value of the services rendered. Baugh vs. Darley, 112 Utah 1, 184 P.2d 335, (1947). Baugh, supra, in an action to recover the amount of a down payment on the purchase price of real property which had been owned by the defendant and for damages for breach of an oral contract by the defendant to sell the real property to the plaintiff. Speaking merely to the issue of unjust enrichment, the court stated at 337, "Unjust enrichment of a person occurs when he has and retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another".

In so holding, the court required that the benefits be sufficient to the plaintiff and not incidental to the defendant. Hallie Love Dennis, for three years made daily requests for appellant to perform services for her. Such

services were not incidental. When the extent and nature of these services are revealed, justice requires their compensation.

What appellant must show is the extent of the services. The following is a series of statements by appellant regarding services rendered: at page 22 of appellant's deposition, we find:

- Q Okay. So back to the claim. So your claim for services at \$2.00 an hour is your own evaluation of your worth?
- A No, it's not my own evaluation of worth. I thought that was a token payment. Hell, common labor gets \$6.00 an hour and I rendered a lot better service than a common laborer.
- Q But if you didn't have any agreement with her then this is for services rendered to her which she accepted, is that correct?
- A I didn't have any written agreement with her, and she didn't accept or make any contract agreement with me, anymore than I make when I employ you as an attorney.

Further, at page 25, the following conversation takes place:

- Q Did you write all checks for her?
- A I think that the bank statement will show that she wrote a very few. I wouldn't say there was over five checks she ever got released and paid, that she wrote herself. I wrote all the checks, but she signed every single check, except three the day before she died. Because I insisted all the bills be paid before she died. I think I paid three checks with power of attorney. Remember, I had power of attorney all of this time.

Again, at page 45, appellant makes the following statements:

- Q Do you have any record in a diary, or a day book, calendar, or any way of the actual days or times that you spent with Hallie Dennis?
- A No, I don't make an entry every day, every time I spent with everything. But I spent time with her every day.
- Q Did you spend time there on Sundays?
- A God, my life wasn't my own the last year, trying to satisfy the demands and desires. And it's a wonder my wife ever stayed with me that last year. God, I wasn't no good to anybody.



Q So that your claim as you set it out is your estimate of the time that you spent on---

A ---That's a minimum time that I spent, each one of those we

Q And likewise the mileage was a minimum mileage, maybe?

A Absolutely, minimum mileage.

That these services were valuable in preserving the estate was pointed out by appellant.

A Well, let's turn it around and say if it hadn't been for Walter Kershaw there wouldn't be one single dime in that estate to haggle about or administer to. I'm the one wholly responsible for having the entire \$66,000 of inventory that's filed with the court. Now--

Q Tell me one thing which you did to preserve any one asset of the estate?

A I prevented her from deeding that home to the Christian Scientist Church, for which Tracy-Collins received \$34,000 in cash. She was hellbent on delivering the deed to that property to the Christian Science Church.

Q Then she could have been subject to being taken advantage of, namely the Christian Scientist Church? Right?

A That's right. And if I hadn't stepped in and catered to her and these nurses, and hauled them back and forth, and she'd been obliged to pay the nurses' services that she actually obtained between August 27th and April 7th that would have cost more money. The cash that was on hand when she died, that would have cost at least \$25,000. And I'm the one that preserved that estate, nobody else involved in the situation.

Now, furthermore, I have been successful in prevailing upon Doctors Clark and Lindem, in St. Mark's Hospital not to file claim for the amount of monies due them for the difference between what she received from Blue Cross and Medicare, and what their charges were. And those charges are in excess of \$6,000.

Q You're saying that you asked these doctors not to file a claim?

A I did. I prevailed upon them. I felt they had enough that well, they just sort of agreed with me that they'd overlook filing the claims. Now, that's the situation. And those claims are in excess of \$6,000.

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