1976

Walter W. Kershaw v. Tracy Collins Bank & Trust Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Appellant's brief limits his claim to quantum meruit, for giving to Hallie Dennis personal care, for preserving her estate and for supervising her affairs. Appellant does not refute his own admission that the diamond ring was bequeathed to him by Hallie's codicil in satisfaction for whatever services he may have rendered.

POINT I.

THE GENERAL RULE OF QUANTUM MERUIT IS ADMITTED. HOWEVER, APPELLANT DOES NOT MEET THE QUALIFICATIONS OF THAT RULE, AS EVERY BENEFIT CONFERRED IS NOT RECOMPENSABLE, AND EVERY ENRICHMENT IS NOT UNJUST.

For recovery in quantum meruit there must be a showing of facts of benefit accepted and unjustly conferred to imply

a contract. There are built-in qualifications to the general rule of quantum meruit which spell out that every benefit conferred is not recompensable and every enrichment is not unjust.

The qualifications to the general rule for recovery in quantum meruit and the parameters for the rules of implied contracts are:

1. Voluntary services are not compensable.
98 C.J.S 723.
2. There must be reasonable expectation by both parties that compensation is to be paid.
98 C.J.S. 724,735.
3. A person who officiously confers a benefit on another is not entitled to restitution therefor.
66 Am.Jur.2d §5,p.948.
4. Gratuitous services are not compensable, particularly if the person rendering services changes his mind.
17 A.L.R. 1371; 98 C.J.S.727; 8 A.L.R.2d 801.
5. Moral obligation does not create an implied contract.
17 AmJur.2d 477.
6. A "family-type" or social relationship, based on friendship and mutual concern, even where there is no relationship by blood or marriage, creates a presumption of rendering of services without pay.
98 C.J.S. 741, 745; 7 A.L.R. 2d 12.

The Utah Supreme Court has both recognized the general theory of quantum meruit and has in recent Utah cases limited restitution in quantum meruit for the reasons as above stated.

Gleason v. Salt Lake City (1937) 74 P.2d 1225, 94 U.I,
is the Utah decision uniformly referred to as the general

statement of the rule for recovery in quantum meruit. The court said:

Ordinarily when services are rendered by one person for another, and voluntarily and knowingly accepted, without more, the law will imply a promise to pay what the services were reasonably worth. (Emphasis ours)

In qualifying the general rule by adding "ordinarily" and "without more," the Utah court allowed the later Utah decisions to spell out and delineate situations which fail to imply in fact or in law a promise or fail to cause unjust enrichment. Quantum meruit requires a promise to pay implied in fact. Facts negating such promise or causing an enrichment, not unjust, disallow recovery in quantum meruit, as there is then no implied contract in fact or in law.

We accept as basic law the general rule for recovery in quantum meruit by implied contract, as set out in the Gleason case. All of the cases cited in Appellant's brief hold that there can be an implied promise to pay. We agree, but to find that implied promise all of the facts must be examined to determine the intention of both parties, as to whether pay was expected by the renderer and to be paid by the recipient of the services. What was the relationship of the parties? Was there a relationship of friendship on which the recipient should have been able to rely? What was the nature of the services? Were they such as both the

recipient and the renderer should reasonably expect to be for pay, or were they normal gratuities?

The Utah Supreme Court in Burton v. McLaughlin (1950) 217 P.2d 566, 117 U.783, decided a quantum meruit case involving personal services rendered to a decedent in his lifetime by a neighbor by quoting and applying this test from Williston on Contracts Rev. Ed. §36, p.94:

It is a question of fact if services are accepted whether a reasonable man in the position of the parties would understand that they are offered in return for a fair compensation, or would rather suppose either that they are offered gratuitously, or if not, that the recipient might think so.

Intimate friends sometime render services gratuitously and how close must relationship be to make one presumption or another applicable? The question is purely one of fact, varying in every case, but with the burden always on the party, who alleges a contract and seeks to enforce it, to prove its existence.

The Utah Court in the Burton case found that the extensive nursing care rendered was not such as could possibly be expected from a neighbor as gratuity; that the rendered had provided food and medicine for the decedent; that the decedent had admitted that she owed the renderer reimbursement; and that these facts could make for an implied contract.

From the Kershaw deposition Judge Sawaya found abundant facts to hold that Hallie Dennis looked upon Kershaw's acts as those of a volunteer and a friend and as gratuities;

that she did not expect to pay for them, except by way of the bequest of the ring; that Kershaw was a volunteer, and that he did not expect pay for the services rendered, which were the services normally expected of a friend; and that those facts negated any implied contract.

POINT II.

KERSHAW'S SERVICES WERE ACCEPTED BY HALLIE AS GRATUITOUS, AND SHE DID NOT EXPECT TO PAY. KERSHAW DID NOT EXPECT TO BE PAID, BUT CHANGED HIS MIND AFTER HER DEATH. THESE FACTS DO NOT CREATE AN IMPLIED CONTRACT.

The Utan court in McCollum v. Clothier (1952) 241 P.2d 468, 121 U.311, cited at 98 C.J.S. 720, 724, 725 and 727, restated the general quantum meruit rule of the Gleason case and then added at page 470:

It is appreciated that this rule should not be applied to bind one under implied contract who merely permits services to be rendered him, or accept benefits from another, under such circumstances that he may reasonably assume they are given gratuitously. The law should not require everyone to keep on guard against such possibilities by warning persons offering services that no pay is to be expected. It is, therefore, essential that the court should exercise caution in imposing the obligations of implied contract, as contrasted to express contract, where the parties have actually defined and agreed to the terms they are to be bound by. With such caution in mind, the test for the court to apply was: Under all the evidence, were the circumstances such that the plaintiff could reasonably assume he was to be paid and that the defendant should have reasonably expected to pay for such services.

Justice Wolfe wrote a concurring opinion in the McCollum decision, page 473, where he concurred in the language in the main opinion, saying:

My comment on this wise statement is that it appears to me that our courts have merely paid lip service to it or ignored it altogether. It is too easy in this state for one to surprisingly find himself a promisor under an implied contract.

All of us are familiar in life with instances where a seeming volunteer ingratiates himself into the confidence of another only to be later revealed as a self-seeker.

The McCollum case is cited at 98 C.J.S. (Work & Labor) 720 under the statement:

Implication of a contract to pay for services is greatly narrowed by rules of statutory and judicial construction; the courts should exercise caution in imposing the obligations of an implied contract of this nature.

The same admonition is at 17 C.J.S. (Contract) 556, again citing the McCollum case.

In Jensen v. Anderson v. Radakovitch (1970) 468 P.2d 366, 24 U.2d 191, the Utah court held that the fact that a holder of an option to purchase a decedent's property obtained while visiting decedent and assisting him with various chores about decedent's property without any contemporaneous promise by decedent to pay for them was not consideration to support the option. The court found there was no evidence to indicate that the services "were rendered at request as a matter of business" and consequently, no contemporaneous

promise in fact to pay for them. The court then restated the admonishment regarding implied promises by quoting the language from the McCollum decision set out above.

The Jensen case is cited at 17 C.J.S. 839, §117, under the following statement:

The authorities which speak of services rendered on request as supporting a promise must be confined to cases where the request implies an undertaking to pay, and do not mean that, what was done as a mere favor can be turned into a consideration at a later time by the fact that it was asked for.

The above language was quoted by C.J.S. from the Jensen opinion, page 368.

Vogl v. Goldrick's Estate (1929) 224 NW.741, 198 Wis. 500, is a case on all fours with Kershaw. Vogl, a bank president and long-time friend of Mr. Goldrick, performed some manual yard work, clerical services and gave business advice to Mrs. Goldrick, the widow living next door. Only after Mrs. Goldrick's death, Vogl made a claim in quantum meruit for eight years services. The Wisconsin court denied the claim, saying that the relation existing between those parties would not raise an implied contract. The court added:

Claimants, silent in the lifetime, become voluble when their pretended debtors can no longer speak. Such claims are not favored in the law.

Let us examine the Kershaw deposition in the light of the McCollum and Jensen decisions for facts going to establish

or to negate an implied contract for payment of services. Kershaw stated that he acted on Hallie's requests and that her demands were "unreasonable" and that she was "unbearable." We repeat Kershaw's statements:

A. Well, I was with her every day, and she was a gal that--well, let's just put the cards on the table. She was the most demanding, cantankerous bitch that God ever created, and she knew that her husband, Earl Dennis, had charged me with the responsibility of taking care of her before her death. And she went out of her way to make it miserable with her demands. She'd call four or five times a day and demand that I go do this, and that, and I'd tell her, 'hire a taxicab'. 'Well, they charge too much money.' (D.12) (Emphasis ours)

A. What do you mean I looked on it, thought it was a job? It was a demand, a request to perform services for her. And she made it so unbearable that you couldn't do anything else but perform the service. (D.47)

We submit that Kershaw's own statements prove that the requests and demands made by Hallie certainly did not contemplate that she would compensate him. On the contrary, it appears clearly that Hallie was expecting gratuitous services from Kershaw because of their long-standing friendship and because of the known "charge" given to Kershaw by his "buddy" and brother Mason, Earl Dennis.

Kershaw clearly stated in his deposition, pages 20, 21, 22 and 23, that he had no agreement with Hallie, or any promise by her, for payment by her for his services in the past or in the future. Kershaw stated (D.47) that in his

personal income tax returns for 1972, 1973 and 1974 he did not take as deductions any automobile expenses, which he is now claiming. This clearly shows that during that period he was not looking at his acts as any work for which he was entitled to pay. His services were gratuitously rendered, and he did not expect pay at the times when rendered.

Kershaw admitted that over the period of three years when he claimed to have rendered services for Hallie, at no time did he ask for reimbursement or make any demand for such. At page 23 of the Kershaw deposition is the following colloquy:

- Q. Did she ever agree to pay you \$.12 a mile?
- A. No, she never discussed any mileage.
- Q. Did she ever agree to pay you anything for your expenses for operating your automobile?
- A. No, she didn't. She wasn't that type of a woman. She wasn't generous, let's put it that way. She was most demanding.
- Q. Did you ever make any demands on her for any of the work that you had done, including your mileage?
- A. No, I didn't make demands on her.
- Q. Was the first demand that you did make when you filed your claim after she died?
- A. Yes, I'll say indirectly, yes.

POINT III.

KERSHAW WAS A VOLUNTEER. THERE WAS NO CONSIDERATION FOR HIS SERVICES. A MORAL OBLIGATION IS NOT LEGAL CONSIDERATION.

The Utah law is clear that a moral obligation does not make for legal consideration.

In Manwill v. Oyler (1961) 361 P.2d 177, 11 U.2d 433, the plaintiff sued to recover payments voluntarily made by him on defendant's land without any consideration or adequate promise for repayment. Plaintiff claimed that whereas defendant had been materially benefited, defendant had a moral obligation to repay. The Utah court held that a moral obligation by itself is not sufficient to make legal consideration; that circumstances in addition to a purely moral obligation "must be such that it is reasonably to be supposed that the promisee (plaintiff) expected to be compensated in some way therefor"; and the Utah court cited Section 78-12-144 UCA, in requiring a writing signed by the party to be charged, as the statutory requirement to revive or establish a prior debt or claim. The Manwill case is cited at 17 Am. Jur.2d 487 in support of the general rule, "that a mere moral obligation, without anything more, is not a sufficient consideration for an executory promise."

The general rule that a moral obligation based on relations of friendship and good will is not matter for legal redress is set out in Rask vs. Norman 169 N.W. 704, 141 Minn. 198, 17 A.L.R. 1296. The Minnesota court would not allow

recovery on the promise of one business associate to another in his last illness to look after and protect the business interests of the latter's wife, which was made on the basis of friendship and good will and was unsupported by pecuniary or material benefit. The general rule is restated with many cases at the note of 8 A.L.R.2d 787. See also 17 C.J.S. 776, §90.

Kershaw was entirely a volunteer. He performed whatever services he did because of an obligation he felt toward his "buddy" and Masonic brother as shown in the following colloquy at page 13 of the deposition:

Q. You said that Earl Dennis had charged you with the responsibility of taking care of Hallie, is that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. How had he done that?

A. Because he called me over on New Year's Day, January 1st, 1972, to tell me what bad shape he was in physically, and he had only a few days to live. And Hallie didn't realize it. And he had to have somebody to look after her until she died.

We submit that Kershaw had no obligation, legal or moral, toward Hallie; that his services were rendered to her as a volunteer and accepted reasonably by her as gratuitous; and that Kershaw at the time of rendering services, did not expect compensation. Kershaw twice dramatically denied any responsibility

for Hallie by saying:

She was no responsibility of mine and they could drop her in a garbage can and send her to the city dump. (D.29,31)

POINT IV

KERSHAW ACTED OFFICIOUSLY IN IMPOSING HIMSELF ON HALLIE. THE LAW WILL ALLOW NO RECOVERY IN QUANTUM MERUIT FOR SERVICES OFFICIOUSLY RENDERED.

The Utah Supreme Court in Baugh v. Darby (1947) P 2d 335, 112 U.1, cited at 98 C.J.S. 722, in a quantum meruit controversy held: "The mere fact that a person benefits another is not of itself sufficient to require the other to make restitution therefor," citing to A.L.I. Restatement of Restitution, Sec. 2, and further: "Nor are services performed by the plaintiff for his own advantage, and from which the defendant benefits incidentally, recoverable," citing Restatement of Restitution, Sec. 40, comment C and Sec. 41 (a)(i).

A.L.I. Restatement of Restitution, Sec. 2, page 15, provides: "A person who officiously confers a benefit upon another is not entitled to restitution therefor." Comment (a) states:

A. Officiousness means interference in the affairs of others not justified by the circumstances under which the interference takes place. Policy ordinarily requires that a person who has conferred a benefit whether by way of giving another services or by adding to the value of his land or by paying

his debt or even by transferring property to him should not be permitted to require the other to pay therefor, unless the one conferring the benefit had a valid reason for so doing. A person is not required to deal with another unless he so desires and, ordinarily, a person should not be required to become an obligor unless he so desires.

The principle stated in this section is not a limitation of the general principle stated in Sec. 1; where a person has officiously conferred a benefit upon another, the other is enriched but is not considered to be unjustly enriched. The rule denying restitution to officious persons has the effect of penalizing those who thrust benefits upon others and protecting persons who have had benefits thrust upon them.

The following comment is at 66 AmJur.2d 948:

A basic principle underlying the rules in regard to restitution is that a person who officiously confers a benefit upon another is not entitled to restitution therefor. Where a person has officiously conferred a benefit upon another, the other is enriched but is not considered to be unjustly enriched.

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